1963

The State Insurance Fund v. The Industrial Commission of Utah and Mary Merkley Sander : Plaintiff's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case calls for the Supreme Court's review of the Industrial Commission's proceedings and decision awarding Workmen's Compensation benefits to Mary Merkley Sander, relating to the death of her husband, Isabrand Sander, for the purpose of determining whether the Commission exceeded its powers and whether the findings of fact support the Commission's award.

DISPOSITION BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

On July 10, 1963, the Industrial Commission held a hearing on Mrs. Sander's application. On August 12, 1963 the Industrial Commission rendered its decision in the form of an Order. The Commission held that Mr. Sander's death on August 4, 1962, resulted from an accident in the course of his employment. The Commission ordered the employer and the State Insurance Fund to pay a total of \$11,170 compensation to Mary Merkley Sander, plus \$525 funeral expenses.

RELIEF SOUGHT IN PETITION

The Plaintiff, the State Insurance Fund, in this certiorari proceeding, seeks to have the Supreme Court of Utah reverse, vacate and annul the award which the Industrial Commission made in its decision and order dated August 12, 1963.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the morning of Saturday, August 4, 1962, Mr. Isabrand Sander was driving an Oldsmobile automobile in a westerly direction on 4th South Street in Salt Lake City, and the automobile crashed into a concrete bridge near 10th West Street, causing injuries to Mr. Sander, resulting in almost instant death. Mr. Sander's widow, Mary Merkley Sander, filed an application with the Industrial Com-

mission of Utah on April 10, 1963, in which she alleged that Isabrand Sander's fatal injuries were received while he was in the course of his employment as the president of I. Sander, Inc. She therefore requested the benefits provided by the Utah Workmen's Compensation law. The employer corporation's Workmen's Compensation insurance carrier was the State Insurance Fund, which denied any liability. The Industrial Commission held a hearing on July 10, 1963.

On August 12, 1963 the Industrial Commission rendered its decision in the form of an Order (R. 97), in which it said that although there was no evidence, other than custom, to support a finding that Mr. Sander was in the course of his employment, his death was compensable; and the Commission ordered the State Insurance Fund to pay a total of \$11,710 compensation to Mrs. Sander, plus \$525 funeral expenses. On September 3, 1963 the Fund filed an Application for Rehearing, which the Commission denied on September 23, 1963.

Many years ago Mr. Sander started his oil and gas distribution business when he was living at Heber City, Utah. Later he incorporated this business under the name of I. Sander, Inc. In 1950 the company's headquarters were moved to Salt Lake City; and Mr. and Mrs. Sander also moved their residence to Salt Lake City. At first the company's office was in one room of the home of Mr. and Mrs. Hosford at 219 Douglas Street. (Mrs. Hosford was one of Sander's daughters.) In the meantime Mrs.

Sander's sister bought the Ivanhoe Apartments at 415, 417 and 419 East 3rd South in Salt Lake City. In order to help her fill up some of the apartments, Mr. and Mrs. Sanders rented and moved into Apt. 8 of the Ivanhoe Apts. Also in 1953 the offices of I. Sander, Inc. were moved from the Hosford residence to Apartment 14 of the Ivanhoe Apts., which is at 419 East 3rd South. In 1956 the company's business activities required more space and different arrangements. So the company purchased some ground and built a building at 1815 West 5th South in Salt Lake City for use as its office and trucking terminal. (R. 15 and 57) All of the company's employees, their desks and other office equipment were moved from 419 East 3rd South to the company's offices at 1815 West 5th South, with the exception of Mr. Sander's desk and some other equipment, which were left in Apt. No. 14 at 419 East 3rd South, for his convenience, etc. (R. 22)

During the three year period the company had its office in Apt. 14 at 419 East 3rd South, the company issued its checks to pay the rent and all of the other expenses. There was a little vagueness in the testimony about the arrangements for payment of the \$70 monthly rental of Apt. 14 after the company's office was moved to west 5th South in 1956. Mr. Hosford, who was the general manager, testified that the company increased Mr. Sander's salary by an amount sufficient to equal the monthly rental, and Mr. Sander then paid the rental for Apt. 14 from his own money. But Mr. Hosford said he

could not remember what amounts Mr. Sander's salary was increased from and to. (R. 15-16) Mr. James Heber Moulton was the company's office manager and he made out the payroll checks each month. He testified that, according to the way he remembered it, Mr. Sander's salary was \$2,000 per month at that time, and Mr. Sander volunteered to pay the rent on Apt. 14 out of his own salary. This was agreeable to Mr. Hosford and Mr. Moulton, so Mr. Sander did that from then on. (R. 58) At a later period, when the company's financial position was not very healthy, Mr. Sander's salary was reduced to \$1,000 per month; and he continued to pay the \$70 monthly rental for Apt. 14 from his own salary. (R. 59)

ARGUMENT POINT 1

THERE WAS NO COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION'S FINDING AND CONCLUSION THAT THE DECEASED, ISABRAND SANDER, WAS IN THE COURSE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT AT THE TIME OF THE FATAL COLLISION.

Mr. Isabrand Sander was 72 years old in 1962. He was still president of the corporation which he had founded, but it was quite apparent that he was in substantially a "retired" status. He had transferred practically all of his stock (ownership in the corporation), to his several children during the years preceding his death. (R. 28) His son-in-law, Mr. Hosford, was the general manager of the company

and was directly in charge of the company's business. Mr. Sander still gave the other officers of the company his advice and counsel on various occasions; but for most purposes he had retired from active participation in the affairs of the company.

The so-called "office" in Apt. 14 at 419 East 3rd South, had Mr. Sander's desk in it, and a typewriter and filing cabinets, and there was also a television set, a contour chair, a davenport, a bed, as well as a stove, refrigerator, kitchen table and chairs. This "office" apartment was on the same floor as Apartment No. 8, in which Mr. and Mrs. Sander lived. He was the only one whose "office" was supposed to be located in Apt. No. 14. Apparently he could use this apartment in the same way as some men use their den in their home, as a more-or-less private or semi-private unit to which they can escape temporarily at periods from the other members of their family, and in which they can have some privacy to engage in such serious or frivolous pastimes as they might be inclined. Mr. Sander could devote as much or as little time to thinking about the company's welfare and general activities as he might choose to do, and in discussions with the company's personnel. He was not required to punch a time-clock or to spend any particular hours in Apt. No. 14 or at the 5th South office of the company, or in the performance of any other service for the company. He also could devote whatever time he wished to his own personal affairs or matters having nothing to do with the business of the company. His time was his own to do with as he saw fit.

The third paragraph of the Industrial Commission's decision (R. 97) reads as follows:

The only issue to be resolved by the Commission is whether the deceased was in the course of his employment by I. Sander, Inc. on August 4, 1962, or more particularly at the time of the fatal accident, 9:40 A.M. Was he in fact on his way to the west side office at 1815 West 5th South Street, Salt Lake City, Utah?

The Commission was in error in assuming that the first sentence and the second sentence meant the same thing. The first sentence correctly stated the main issue to be whether Mr. Sander "was in the course of his employment * * * at the time of the fatal accident." The next sentence: "Was he in fact on his way to the west side office?" is not the same question. It is not complete. Even if he were on his way to the company's office at 1815 West 5th South, that fact alone would not be sufficient to bring him into the course of his employment and under the coverage of the Utah Workmen's Compensation law. Any employee, whether he is the president of the company or holds some lesser job, must be doing something more than being "on his way to" the company's office, in order to be covered. He is not covered when he is on his way from his home to his employer's place of business in the morning (or the commencement of his shift). Neither is he covered when going to or returning from lunch or other meal. *Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. vs. Ind. Comm.*, 100 Utah 8, 110 P.2d 334.

The last sentence of the fourth paragraph of the Commission's decision (R. 97), quotes the witness, Gregory F. Hosford (who was a son-in-law of Mr. and Mrs. Sander), as testifying that Mr. Sander "was enroute from the office at 419 East 3rd South to the office at 1815 West 5th South." That testimony of Mr. Hosford (R. 18), was nothing but hearsay; and it was his own guess or conclusion. Mr. Hosford himself admitted that he was not in Salt Lake City at the time of Mr. Sander's collision. He was in Fillmore at that time. He first learned of the accident when Mr. Moulton told him about it over the telephone. (R. 20) It is interesting to note that Hosford also jumped to an erroneous conclusion in testifying that Mr. Moulton was on duty at the west side office that morning. (R. 20) Actually Mr. Moulton spent most of the morning attending a family gathering in a building some distance away from the company's office. (R. 56) On cross examination Mr. Hosford testified that he left Salt Lake City about 8:00 A.M. on August 4, 1962 and he flew to Filmore on some business for the company. He did not see Mr. Sander at all that day, and he did not have any conversation with him. (R. 37)

The sixth paragraph of the Industrial Commission's decision (R. 97), reads:

Although we have no evidence, other than custom, we believe that the evidence adduced supports a finding that the deceased was on his way from the east side office to the west side office at the time of the fatal injury.

We assume that the Commission was making a finding and conclusion to that effect. There might have been some basis for the Commission to find that Mr. Sander "was on his way to the west side office" that morning. Both his custom and Mrs. Sander's testimony that he may have told her, while they were eating breakfast, that he intended going to the 5th South office that morning (R. 52), might lend some support to such a finding. But the Commission apparently overlooked an important point. There was absolutely no evidence in the record, either of custom or otherwise, upon which to base a finding that Mr. Sander "was on his way *from* the east side office." (Emphasis added.)

The only testimony from anyone who actually saw Mr. Sander or had any conversation with him on the morning of August 4, 1962, came from his wife, the applicant in the Industrial Commission's proceedings. Mr. and Mrs. Sander slept in separate bedrooms in their apartment. She testified that when she arose that morning she first went to his room. He was already up. (R. 48) She saw him in the bathroom, and said, "Well, good morning." When he finished in the bathroom he went over to Apt. 14. She prepared their breakfast, then called him on the telephone about 7:30. He came over to their apartment (No. 8) and they ate breakfast together. She first testified that she did not remember of him telling her, while they were eating breakfast, that he was going to the 5th South office that morning. (R. 50) Later she said that he may or may not

have told her that he was going to the 5th South office that morning. (R. 52) She testified that customarily he did go down to the 5th South office on Saturday mornings.

Mrs. Sander did not know at what time Mr. Sander had gone out and driven away in the Oldsmobile. The first that she knew he was gone was when she looked out of their kitchen window and she noticed that the Oldsmobile was not there. She estimated that that was about 9:30 A.M. (R. 51)

There was no proof as to what Mr. Sander was doing in Apt. 14 for that part of the time he may have been there between 7 A.M. and 7:30 A.M. that day; whether he was working, or reading the morning newspaper or listening to news on the radio or TV, or taking a nap, or any of the various things which different men in Salt Lake City do between 7:00 and 7:30 in the morning on Saturdays. Mrs. Sander did not know what he was doing in Apt. 14 that morning. He did not tell her that he was working. (R. 49) There is no evidence of any kind that he did any work for the corporation that morning. The mere fact that he might have done some work in Apt. 14 would not necessarily mean that he had entered on duty for the company shortly after 7 A.M. and that all of his actions and movements after 7 A.M. that day must be considered as coming within the scope of his employment.

There is also a lack of any competent evidence to prove what Mr. Sander might have been doing

after he finished eating his breakfast and before the Oldsmobile he was driving crashed into the concrete bridge later that morning. With such lack of proof, any finding or inference which the Industrial Commission might make, to the effect that after his breakfast Mr. Sander went back to Apt. 14 and then later went *from there* to the 5th South office, is clearly unsupported by competent evidence.

It is our contention that there was no proof that it was Mr. Sander's custom to go from what the Commission called the "east side office" (Apt. 14 in the Ivanhoe Apartments), to the company's main office on 5th South on Saturday mornings generally, or on that Saturday morning, August 4, 1962 in particular.

Mr. Hosford testified that Mr. Sander "periodically would come down to 1815 West 5th South to see us." (R. 17) He also explained that his understanding relating to Mr. Sander's movements on the day of his death, were based on his knowledge of his custom for the previous 13 years (R. 37); also what he (Hosford) was told over the telephone while he was in Fillmore, and what he was told when he returned to Salt Lake City. (R. 19 and 37) But even Mr. Hosford (who was apparently doing all he could to make the case compensable), did not state that it was Mr. Sander's custom to go *from* Apt. 14 at 419 E. 3rd South, on the occasions when he would come down to the 5th South office. It would have been only hearsay if he had so testified.

Mr. Moulton testified that Mr. Sander came down to the 5th South office often. (R.54) When asked what he meant by "often," he said that in one period Mr. Sander had spent the whole day there for two weeks at a time. Then there were "other times when we'd go for a whole week without seeing him." On August 4, 1962 Mr. Moulton did not know whether Mr. Sander was coming down to the 5th South office. (R. 55-56) He had not talked with him on the phone. Both he and Mr. Nelson, the accountant, testified that they did not have any arrangements to meet Mr. Sander at the 5th South office that morning; and there was no special meeting planned for that morning. (R. 68)

Mr. Nelson, and his son who took care of the lawn, were the only employees of the company at the 5th South office after Moulton left for his family gathering. (R. 65 and 67)

There was considerable effort on the part of applicant's attorney and witnesses to establish that Mr. Sander had been working on a device, somewhat like a miniature slot machine, which might be used as a sales promotion scheme by service stations to influence customers to buy gasoline at their particular stations in hopes of getting their purchase free, if three numbers of the same kind came up on the device. (R. 19, 54 and 69) Mr. Sander had one of those devices in the trunk of his Oldsmobile at the time of the fatal crash. At least it was there the following Monday or Tuesday when Mr. Hosford and Mr. Moulton and Mr. Nelson examined the trunk

of the wrecked car. (R. 19, 55 and 69) Mr. Sander had been working on that device for quite a while prior to that day, and he no doubt had been carrying it in his automobile for some considerable time. There was no evidence that he was making any special trip to the company's 5th South office that morning in connection with that device, or for any other purpose; and the Industrial Commission's decision so held. (R. 97) Therefore it cannot have any significance in the consideration of the question of whether he was in the course of his employment that morning. In the case of *Greer vs. Ind. Comm.*, 74 Utah 379, 279 Pac. 900, the Utah Supreme Court held that carrying of a tool or other object relating to the employer's business, must have been the main purpose of the trip in order to be under the coverage of the Workmen's Compensation law, and not just *incidental* to the trip of the employee in going to or from work.

There was also some testimony that the corporation paid the monthly charge for the telephone which Mr. Sander had in Apt. 14 of the Ivanhoe Apartments, in his own name under an unlisted number. (R. 14 and 58) That fact was not of particular importance. The company also paid the telephone bill on Mr. Hosford's home telephone; and probably also on Mr. Moulton's. (R. 30-31) That was done because all of those phones were used relating to the company's business on occasions.

In the discussion of our present case, the case of *Vitagraph, Inc., vs. Ind. Comm.*, 96 Utah 190, 85

P.2d 601, contains some points which are helpful. Mr. P. O. Perry was employed on a part time basis by Vitagraph, Inc. to be present at times when their pictures were being shown in different theatres in Salt Lake City. He would check the number of paying customers and at a later time make a written report and mail it to the company's office. After one such evening at the Southeast Theatre he put the tallying machine in his pocket and started to go to his home. While crossing a street for the purpose of boarding a bus he was struck by an automobile and injured. He had intended preparing his report at home that evening or the following morning, as he usually did. On some occasions he had prepared the report before leaving the theatre. The Industrial Commission awarded compensation to Mr. Perry. The Supreme Court annulled the award. The Court held that the accident was not in the course of his employment. At page 194 of the Court's opinion, it said:

The question as to when one is in the course of his employment has often been before the courts. Certain indicia to guide one in answering the question have been laid down by the courts but no fixed rule can be promulgated and each case must be determined largely from its own facts. It seems definitely settled that if a workman is injured in the normal course of things, in going to or from his work or place of employment, that is the result of the general hazards which all must meet and assume and is not in the course of his employment.

At page 201 of the Court's opinion is a quote from a previous case of *Greer vs. Ind. Comm.*, 74 Utah 379, 279 Pac. 900:

But the mission (for the employer) must be the major factor in the journey or movement, and not merely incidental thereto; that is to say if incidental to the main purpose of going to or from the place of employment, it would not bring such person under the protection of the Act. * * * Under the facts in the instant case, it is clear that the deceased was not upon any *special mission* for his employer at the time of the accident. There was nothing he was doing for his master at the time which exposed him to the perils of the street. He was merely going from his home to his place of employment. The fact that he was carrying the saw was merely incidental. * * * In this case the deceased was not injured while he was sharpening the saw at his home. The accident did not occur while he was actually engaged in the performance of a duty for the employer. The dangers of the street between his home and the stockyards were not incident to his employment, but were dangers common to all.

To the same effect as the above mentioned Greer case, is one cited in 99 Corpus Juris Secundum,, Section 232 relating to the "going and coming rule," namely *Sylvan vs. Sylvan Bros.*, 82 SE2d 794, 225 S. C. 429:

Injuries sustained by executive who slipped and fell on sidewalk on the way from

home to place of employment was neither in course of, nor arising out of, his employment, notwithstanding he was carrying business papers which he had prepared in his home previous evening; the journey to and from home to place of employment was not in course of employment, because main purpose of it was to go home or to return to place of employment, and journey would be made irrespective of homework which employee might be carrying.

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