# **Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

# The State Insurance Fund v. The Industrial Commission of Utah and Mary Merkley Sander: Defendant's Brief

**Utah Supreme Court**

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT ONE

THE FINDING OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION THAT THE DECEASED ISABRAND SANDER WAS WITHIN THE COURSE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT AT THE TIME OF THE FATAL COLLISION IS BASED ON SUFFICIENT, COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

The question to be decided in this case is whether or not there was sufficient, competent evidence to support the finding and Order (R. 97) of the Industrial Commission that Mr. Isabrand Sander, at the time of his death, was within the course of his employment. Plaintiff contends that there was "no competent evidence to support the Industrial Commission's finding . . ." (Brief, p. 5.) If the Commission based its Order (R. 97) on any competent evidence whatsoever, the commission's award should be affirmed.

It must be firmly stated and constantly kept in mind that, "To accomplish its salutary purposes, the [Workmen's Compensation] Act should be liberally construed in favor of coverage of the claimant." Maryland Casualty Co. v. Industrial Commission, 12 Utah 2d 223, 225, 364 P. 2d 1020 (1961); Looser

v. Industrial Commission, 9 Utah 2d 81, 83, 337 P. 2d 965 (1959).

In Chandler v. Industrial Commission, 55 Utah 213, 184 P. 1020, (1919), the Utah Supreme Court overruled a decision of the Industrial Commission denying an award, where the issue was whether or not the employee was within the course of his employment:

"... Whether a particular injury is occasioned by an accident arising out of the employment may present a more or less perplexing question, and with respect to which reasonable men may differ . . ."

"We are reminded that our statute requires that the statutes of this state are to be 'liberally construed with a view to effect the objects of the statutes and to promote justice."

"We are all united upon the proposition that in view of the purposes of such acts, in case there is any doubt respecting the right to compensation, such doubt should be resolved in favor of the employee or of his dependents as the case may be." (55 Utah 213 at pages 216-218.)

In order to further this salutary purpose of the Workmen's Compensation Act, the rules of evidence before the Commission in its hearing are much more liberal than those which prevail in the courts of law. Section 35-1-88, U.C.A. (1953) provides:

"Rules of evidence before commission. The comission shall not be bound by the usual common law or statutory rules of evidence, or by any technical or formal rules or procedure,

other than as herein provided; but may make its investigations in such manner as in its judgment is best calculated to ascertain the substantial rights of the parties and to carry out justly the spirit of this title."

The Court commenting on substantially the same section in *Ogden Iron Works v. Industrial Commission*, 102 Utah 492, 132 P. 2d 376 (1942) stated that the section

"... plainly changes the rule of evidence within the Act... Much could be said in favor of a thesis that the Commission could act and base an award upon any kind of evidence; that since the Act authorizes the Commission to receive hearsay evidence, and therefore an award may be based thereon. \* \* \*" (102 Utah at page 498.)

The next step in procedure in a Workman's Compensation case, after the Commission has made its finding and published its Order, occurs if either party to the action appeals the Commission's decision. Here again, great weight and scope of authority is given to the decision of the Industrial Commission.

". . . (B) elieving the facts as related by the applicant widow and her witnesses . . . is a prerogative reserved to the Commission, with which we do not interfere short of arbitrary action not based on competent, believable evidence. \* \* \*" John G. Hendrie Company vs. Industrial Commission, 12 Utah 2d 80, 81-82, 362 P. 2d 752 (1961). See also, inter alia, J.B. and R.E. Walker, Inc. v. Industrial Com-

mission, 7 Utah 2d 132, 320 P. 2d 650, 651 (1957).

"... (T) he Commission's findings are binding on this Court unless it can be shown as a matter of law that they are so unreasonable as to be arbitrary or capricious. \* \* \*" Holland v. Industrial Commission, 5 Utah 2d 105, 106, 297 P. 2d 230.

"'It was not intended . . . that this court, in matters of evidence, should to any extent substitute its judgment for the judgment of the commission.' \* \* \*" Lorange v. Industrial Commission, 107 Utah 261, 264, 152 P. 2d 272.

With this background of the Workmen's Compensation Act's purpose, the procedure in its hearings, and the rules for appellate review, let us proceed to the evidence in the case at bar. Plaintiff contends that the deceased, Mr. Isabrand Sander, "was in substantially a 'retired' status" at the time of his death. (Brief, p. 5) This statement is in direct contradiction to the testimony of every witness who testified at the hearing. (R. 16, 33, 40, 43, 49, 50, 54, 68, 69.)

Plaintiff next contends that the office which I. Sander, Inc. maintained at 419 East 3rd South was not an office at all. On cross-examination, Mrs. Sander testified that this office had never been used for residential purposes since 1950. (R. 45.) Mr. Sander never slept in this office. (R. 52.) Plaintiff contends that Mr. Sander could devote as much or as little time as he wished to company affairs in this office, and that he did not have to punch a time

clock. That Mr. Sander did not punch a time clock is irrelevant — very few executives do. What is extraordinary concerning Mr. Sander in this regard is the regularity of hours which he kept in his East Side Office, far more regular, we might dare say, than the hours of most company presidents. Conferences were held in the East Side Office regularly. (R. 17.) Mr. Nelson, a company employee. testified that ". . . usually any time we'd want to contact him (Mr. Sander) we would call his office and contact him." (R. 69.) As to conducting "personal affairs" (Brief, p. 6) in his office, besides the fact that most executives have occasion to conduct some personal business in their offices, Mr. James Moulton, executive vice-president of the company, testified that to his knowledge Mr. Sander in fact had very little personal business at all to perform. "When he was awake, he was either working or churching." (R. 60.)

The uncontradicted evidence clearly establishes proof the company had an East Side Office and a West Side Office and that Mr. Sander's regular desk was in the East Side Office although he used a table for a desk at the West Side Office (R. 11, 12, 56) when necessary. The company paid the telephone bill at the East Side Office. (R. 12.) There was a logical business reason for maintaining a separate office on the east side of town: the office was near the offices of Standard Oil, which was the main customer of I. Sander, Inc. (R. 16.)

There was not one iota of testimony from any of the witnesses that the East Side Office was ever used by Mr. Sander for anything but business purposes. There was a bed in the office kept there for emergencies when the apartment clientele might have more guests than they could accommodate, but Mr. Sander had never slept there. (R. 52.) There was no extension telephone between Mr. Sander's office and his apartment. (R. 42.) I. Sander, Inc. paid the entire telephone bill for the office at 419 East Third South. There is no evidence whatsoever in the record that the Company paid the telephone bill for the telephone in Mr. Sander's residence apartment, as it did in his office.

Mail was regularly addressed to I. Sander, Inc., 419 East Third South, Salt Lake City, Utah, the East Side office of I. Sander, Inc. (R. 32.) Mr. Sander was paid \$1000 per month as president. Mr. Hosford, the present president does not appear from the record to be paying the rent out of his salary as president. He is paid \$100.00 per month less than Mr. Sander, \$900.00. In sum, this is the office which the plaintiff terms Mr. Sander's "den". (Brief, P. 6.) The above brief recital of facts incidental to the East Side Office shows the fallacy of this term — in fact, judging from the testimony of Mr. Sander's widow and business associates, Mr. Sander's character was such that he might have found great difficulty in finding a use for a "den" for "serious or frivolous pastimes." (Brief, p. 6.)

Plaintiff admits that Mr. Sander was in "Apt. 14" between 7:00 A.M. and 7:30 A.M. on the morning on which he was killed. (Brief, p. 10.) Plaintiff infers that this did not necessarily place Mr. Sander within the course of his employment, in that we do not know for an absolute fact that Mr. Sander did any work while he was in Apt. 14, the East Side Office of I. Sander, Inc., between 7:00 and 7:30 A.M. This contention is directly contrary to the rule set forth in *Edward v. Industrial Commission*, 87 Utah 127, 130, 48 P. 2d 459:

"As stated in Wheeler's Case, 131 Me. 81, 159 A. 331, the test is not so much as to whether the employer owns or controls the place where the injury occurred, but rather, whether it happens on the premises where the work is to be performed. Ordinarily where an employee is present at the place of work, even though he has not started work but is there to begin work or is there on the premises on his way to perform his duties, the accident is compensable. This is on the theory that the course of his employment must start somewhere. When he arrives at the place of work, the course of his employment begins." See also Bountiful Brick Co. v. Giles, 276 U.S. 154, 72 L.Ed. 507, 48 S. Ct. 221, Affirming, 68 Utah 600, 251 P. 555.

Assuming Mr. Sander was reading the newspaper in his office at 7:00 A.M., and further assuming *arguendo* that said reading had nothing to do with his course of employment (which is unlikely in the case of a president of a petroleum distribution

ing company), if, as the Commission found as a fact, Mr. Sander was in his office and this office was his place of work, he had embarked on the course of his employment.

Having disposed of some of the less significant arguments advanced by the plaintiff, it is appropriate that we advance to the very crux of this case: Was Mr. Sander in his course of employment when he was killed? The question presents no hard and fast means of solution, since Mr. Sander did not live to present testimony, nor did Mr. Sander set out in writing or orally state his proposed schedule for the day. However, this same problem has presented itself to the Supreme Court of this State and the courts of several others states, and an equitable method has been stated for resolving this problem.

In the case of *Ogden Iron Works v. Industrial Commission*, 102 Utah 492, 132 P. 2d 376, Justice Larson initiated his discussion of the case with a question similar to that above, and then proceeded to reason forth the solution:

"Does the evidence justify a finding that deceased, on March 24th, while in the course of his employment at the boring machine, bumped his head? There is no testimony of any eyewitness to the bump, and deceased made no report thereof to the management of the employer. \* \* \*" (102 Utah 492 at page 497.)

"Much could be said in favor of a thesis that the Commission could act and base an award upon any kind of evidence; ... The difficulty in proving the cause of death or of any injury, where the person injured dies as a result thereof, has long been recognized. \* \* \*" (Id. at page 499.)

"The question is whether there is any evidence, *competent* in a Court of law which when supported and corroborate dby the hearsay evidence, justifies or sustains the findings of the Commission. \* \* \*" (Id at page 502.)

The Court then discussed the nature of this "competent" evidence. Like Mr. Sander, the deceased in the *Ogden Iron* case (Id at page 502.) went to work on the morning of his accident. Just as Mr. Sander "customarily" drove down to the West Side Office on Saturdays (R. 51) and "as a general rule and habit" returned to his East Side Office immediately after breakfast (R. 42), so in the *Ogden Iron* case there was testimony that "men . . . frequently bumped their heads on the lever or the rail; . . ." (102 Utah 492, 502.)

After discussing several other facts which the Court deemed significant, none of which were conclusive, the Court concluded:

"We are not prepared to say that the Commisssion could not, from these facts infer and find that the bump on the head was received while at work at the boring machine . . ." (Ibid.) (Emphasis added.)

The Court affirmed the award of the Commission.

A very similar problem was presented to the Supreme Court of Utah in Salt Lake County v. Industrial Commission, 101 Utah 167, 120 P. 2d 321 (1941). The deceased died of Rocky Mountain spotted fever. He had been working for the County in the canyons clearying brush, but of course the ticks which cause the disease are found not only in the canyon during working hours, but throughout the entire intermountain area at all hours. Justice Wolfe in this case characterized the facts as being in near "equipoise." The only evidence that the deceased had contracted the disease while in the course of his employment was that he had said that something had bit his finger a few days before his death while he was working and four witnesses testified to the actual presence of ticks at a point three miles from the place the deceased had been working. In affirming an award of the Commission, the Court stated:

"There is nothing appearing of record which is intrinsically discrediting to the uncontradicted testimony of the witnesses nor is such testimony wholly from interested witnesses. Further, the evidence as appears in the record not only carries 'a measure of conviction' to the reasonable mind, but is sufficient to throw the mind off equipoise, raising the inference that the deceased picked up the tick in the course of his employment. \* \* \*" (101 Utah 167 at page 173.)

The applicant-defendant submits that the consistent, uncontradicted, and overwhelming testi-

mony of the witness in the case at bar concerning the unusually strong and long-standing habits and customs of the deceased was sufficient evidence to "throw the mind off equipoise, raising the inference that the deceased [was] in the course of his employment." (*Ibid.*)

The case of *Dole v. Industrial Commission*, 115 Utah 311, 204 P. 2d 462 (1949) indicates the extent to which the Utah Supreme Court has liberally interpreted the Workmen's Compensation Act in order to accomplish its "salutary purpose." In this case, the Industrial Commission had *denied* plaintiff compensation for injury to his eye on the grounds that the plaintiff had not suffered the accident as he claimed, or that there was no causal connection between the accident and the injury. The Supreme Court annulled the order of the Commission and granted the award, stating:

"If the rule announced in the *Smith* case were to be extended to the facts in this case, then an injured employee who could not produce witnesses to the accident might be denied recovery. The only important similarity in the facts of the two cases are that in both instances the employer was alone at the time the claimed accident occurred, and, hence, had exclusive knowledge as to whether or not the accident happened. \* \* \*" (115 Utah 311, 314.)

The court then proceeded to point out the "consistent acts and conduct of this plaintiff." (Id. at page 315.)

Justice Wolfe dissented, and wrote a long opinion based largely on a policy of upholding the decision of the commission:

"'The findings and conclusions of the commission of questions of fact shall be conclusive and final and shall not be subject to review; such questions of fact shall include ultimate facts and the findings and conclusions of the commission. \* \* \*" (Id. at page 324.)

The same sense of justice and equity which induced the Court to go so far as to vacate the order of the Commission denying compensation in the Dole case should prevail in the case at bar. In this case, we do not have an "injured employee who could not produce witnesses to the accident . . ." (Ibid.) We have an employee who was killed almost instantaneously but who regularly, customarily, and habitually went to his East Side Office before breakfast at about 8:00 A.M., (R. 41, 42, 44), an employee in a collision while on a route which would have taken him directly from his East Side Office to his West Side Office at the time of 9:40 A.M., a trip which he customarily made on Saturdays. (R. 46.) In essence, annulment of this claim would serve to exclude from the provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Act all persons who hold positions which allow and require that they decide for themselves where and when their services are best needed in the interests of the company. There is always the possibility that the employee was in fact on personal business at the time he was instantaneously killed.

He might even keep a log book of whence he was coming and whither he was going, but to no avail, for these would be mere self-serving declarations, or as plaintiff terms it "hearsay." (Brief, p. 20.)

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